RECEIVED

Mar 02 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-40-02608
Appeal No. 2025-001017

Sallie Wilson
as Guardian for Gladys Graham,

Respondent,

v.

Medical University Hospital Authority
d/b/a MUSC Health Columbia Medical Center Northeast,
Columbia AL Operations, LLC
d/b/a Harmony Collection at Columbia (AL/MC),
and Karen Bowman,

Defendants.

Of whom Columbia AL Operations, LLC
d/b/a Harmony Collection at Columbia (AL/MC)
and Karen Bowman are

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying Appellants'¹ motion to stay this action and compel Plaintiff's² claims against them to arbitration?³**
- A. Did the circuit court err in finding that the FAA⁴ does not apply?**
- B. Did the circuit court err in finding Plaintiff's claims against Appellants outside the scope of the Arbitration Provision?**
- C. Did the circuit court err in not finding that Ms. Wilson had actual or apparent authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham, or that Plaintiff was estopped to deny Ms. Wilson's authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham?**
- D. Did the circuit court err in rejecting Appellants' equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should the circuit court have found that, because the Arbitration Provision was part of the Residency Agreement and Ms. Graham effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Residency Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Residency Agreement and the Arbitration Provision therein?**
- 1. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Residency Agreement and the Arbitration Provision are two separate agreements and one cannot be bound by the other?**
- E. Did the circuit court err in finding that this action should not be stayed?**

¹ "Appellants" refers to Defendants/Appellants, Columbia AL Operations, LLC d/b/a Harmony Collections at Columbia (AL/MC) (the "Facility") and Karen Bowman ("Ms. Bowman"), collectively. The Facility is an assisted living facility. (R. p. 170 ¶ 3.) Plaintiff bases Ms. Bowman's alleged liability on the allegation that she "is the administrator of [the Facility]." (R. p. 37 ¶ 4.)

² "Plaintiff" refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Sallie Wilson ("Ms. Wilson") as guardian for Gladys Graham ("Ms. Graham"). According to Plaintiff, Ms. Wilson was appointed guardian and conservator for Ms. Graham by the Saluda County Probate Court on January 10, 2023. (R. p. 186.)

³ To be clear, out of an abundance of caution, this issue and the corresponding argument includes not only Appellants' challenge to the circuit court's denial of their principal motion but also Appellants' challenge to the circuit court's denial of reconsideration with respect thereto.

⁴ The "FAA" refers to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of Ms. Wilson, her daughter, Ms. Graham was admitted as a resident of the Facility in the spring of 2022. (R. pp. 108–138.) Ms. Wilson handled the paperwork and, in so doing, on March 25, 2022, signed an Assisted Living Residency Agreement (the “Residency Agreement”) on Ms. Graham’s behalf. (R. pp. 108–138.)⁵

The Residency Agreement includes an Arbitration Provision that provides as follows:

Any controversy, dispute or disagreement arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the breach thereof, or the subject matter thereof, not resolved by or ineligible for the complaint resolution procedures set forth in [the applicable sections] of this Agreement shall be settled exclusively by binding arbitration, which shall be conducted in Columbia, South Carolina in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration, and which to the extent of the subject matter of the arbitration, shall be binding not only on all parties to the Agreement, but on any other entity controlled by, in control of or under common control with the party to the extent that such affiliate joins in the arbitration, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

(R. p. 121.)

Plaintiff commenced this action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas on May 18, 2023. (R. pp. 20–30.) Although Plaintiff initially named Medical University Hospital Authority d/b/a MUSC Health Columbia Medical Center Northeast as the only defendant,⁶ later that same day, May 18, 2023, Plaintiff filed an amended summons and amended complaint

⁵ The Residency Agreement was signed March 25 and effective March 31, 2022. (R. pp. 108–138.) Ms. Wilson not only signed the Residency Agreement for Ms. Graham (i.e., she signed Ms. Graham’s name) but also signed her own name as Ms. Wilson’s “Authorized Legal Representative.” (R. pp. 124, 126, 132, 134, 136.)

⁶ (R. pp. 20–30.)

adding Appellants as defendants. (R. pp. 36–54.)⁷ All the claims that Plaintiff asserts against Appellants arise out of allegedly deficient care/services provided to Ms. Graham during her residency at the Facility. (R. pp. 36–54.) More specifically, they arise out of an alleged fall Ms. Graham suffered on or about April 18, 2022. (R. p. 47 ¶ 56.)

On August 9, 2023, Appellants moved to stay this action and compel Plaintiff’s claims against them to arbitration based on the Arbitration Provision (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”). (Motion to Compel Arbitration, filed August 9, 2023, with Exhibit.) After being withdrawn without prejudice while the parties attempted to resolve the matter via mediation,⁸ the Motion to Compel Arbitration was refiled on November 26, 2024. (R. pp. 106–185.)

Following a hearing on March 6, 2025,⁹ the circuit court, the Honorable Robert E. Hood presiding, denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed March 26, 2025. (R. pp. 3–16.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, on April 4, 2025, Appellants timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 170–185, 194–223.) The circuit court denied that motion by order filed April 23, 2025. (R. pp. 17–19.)

By notice served and filed May 23, 2025, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 224–230.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a

⁷ Technically, the defendant named in Plaintiff’s original complaint, and the other defendant (i.e., besides Appellants) named in Plaintiff’s amended complaint, was “Medical University Hospital Authority d/b/a MUSC Health Columbia Medical Center Downtown,” but by order filed December 7, 2023, the name of this party was later corrected to read “Medical University Hospital Authority d/b/a MUSC Health Columbia Medical Center Northeast.” (R. pp. 1–2.)

⁸ (R. p. 185.)

⁹ (R. pp. 55–73.)

nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

A. The circuit court erred in finding that the FAA does not apply.¹⁰

Respectfully, the circuit court’s analysis here is wrong from the start. Nowhere in its discussion of the FAA’s applicability is any consideration of the proper test for whether the FAA applies, which is whether the Residency Agreement evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001) (providing that the FAA applies “to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction”); *see also Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 268 (1995) (holding that the reach of the FAA extends to the broadest permissible exercise of Congress’s power under the Commerce Clause). And under this test, given that the Residency Agreement entailed providing Ms. Graham with meals,¹¹ the FAA applies here. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732 (2014) (recognizing that

¹⁰ (R. pp. 14–15.)

¹¹ (R. p. 110.)

the provision of meals inevitably involves supplies shipped across state lines from out of state vendors and thus implicates interstate commerce and the FAA).¹² Accordingly, the circuit court erred in finding that the FAA does not apply.

Consequently, the Residency Agreement/Arbitration Provision must be placed “on *equal footing with other contracts . . .*” *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011) (emphasis added); *see also Kindred Nursing Centers Ltd. P’ship v. Clark*, 137 S. Ct. 1421, 1423 (2017) (While a court may invalidate an arbitration agreement based on “generally applicable contract defenses,” it may not do so based on legal rules that “apply only to arbitration or that derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue.”) (citing *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339); *Allied-Bruce*, 513 U.S. at 281 (“States may regulate contracts, including arbitration clauses, under general contract law principles and they may invalidate an arbitration clause ‘upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.’ What States may not do is decide that a contract is fair enough to enforce all its basic terms (price, service, credit), but not fair enough to enforce its arbitration clause. The [FAA] makes *any* such state policy unlawful, for that kind of policy would place arbitration clauses on an unequal ‘footing,’ directly contrary to the [FAA’s] language and Congress’ intent.”) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).

B. The circuit court erred in finding Plaintiff’s claims against Appellants outside the scope of the Arbitration Provision.¹³

The circuit court’s reasoning in this regard was simply that “Plaintiff’s claims include negligence, negligence per se, fraud and misrepresentation, and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act,” but “[n]owhere in the [Appellants’] arbitration agreement are those

¹² The reasons that the circuit court actually cited against the applicability of the FAA (the supposed absence of a valid agreement to arbitrate and the supposed lack of a dispute within the scope of the Arbitration Provision) are refuted elsewhere in this brief.

¹³ (R. p. 15.)

causes of action listed.” (R. p. 15.) The court cites no authority for the proposition that causes of action covered by an arbitration agreement must be expressly stated, and Appellants are aware of none. The plain language of the Arbitration Provision—which calls for arbitration of “[a]ny controversy, dispute or disagreement arising out of or relating to th[e] [Residency] Agreement, the breach thereof, or the subject matter thereof . . .”¹⁴—clearly embraces the entirety of Plaintiff’s claims against Appellants here. But even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.”). And to require more just because an agreement to arbitrate is in issue would violate the FAA’s requirement that arbitration agreements be placed on equal footing with all other contracts. *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339. Accordingly, the circuit court erred in finding Plaintiff’s claims against Appellants outside the scope of the Arbitration Provision.

C. The circuit court erred in not finding that Ms. Wilson had actual or apparent authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham, or that Plaintiff was estopped to deny Ms. Wilson’s authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham.

The circuit court erroneously found that Appellants produced no evidence of Ms. Wilson’s actual or apparent authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham. (R. pp. 6–11.)

A true agency relationship may be established by evidence of actual or apparent authority. *R & G Const., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg’l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 432, 540 S.E.2d 113, 117 (Ct. App. 2000). “Agency is the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a ‘principal’) manifests assent to another person (an ‘agent’) that the agent shall act on the

¹⁴ (R. p. 121 (emphasis added).)

principal's behalf and subject to the principal's control." *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 49, 748 S.E.2d 625, 631 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006)). "An agreement may result in the creation of an agency relationship although the parties did not call it an agency and did not intend the consequences of the relationship to follow. Agency may be proved by circumstantial evidence showing a course of dealing between the two parties." *Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Yacht Club*, 310 S.C. 132, 145–146, 425 S.E.2d 764, 773 (Ct. App. 1992). The doctrine of apparent authority provides that a principal may be bound by the acts of its agent when the principal has placed the agent in a position such that third parties are reasonably led to believe the agent has certain authority and they in turn deal with the agent in reliance on this manifestation. *Eadie v. H.A. Sack Co.*, 322 S.C. 164, 171, 470 S.E.2d 397, 401 (Ct. App. 1996). Moreover, "[w]hen a principal, by any such acts or conduct, has knowingly caused or permitted another to appear to be his agent, either generally or for a particular purpose, he will be estopped to deny such agency to the injury of third persons who have in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable prudence dealt with the agent on the faith of such appearances." *R & G Constr.*, 343 S.C. at 433, 540 S.E.2d at 118.

Ms. Wilson expressly signed the Residency Agreement as Ms. Graham's "Authorized Legal Representative;"¹⁵ thus, representing to Appellants that she was indeed authorized to act for her mother, Ms. Graham. *See Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 352, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019) ("[O]ne who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms."). Moreover, Appellants supported the Motion to Compel Arbitration with an affidavit from Rebecca Cunningham, Executive Director of the Facility at the time of Ms. Graham's admission, who attested that she personally "participated in the admissions process for

¹⁵ (R. pp. 124, 126, 132, 134, 136.)

[Ms.] Graham;” that “[t]he relevant documents reflect that Ms. Wilson signed the [Residency] Agreement containing the [A]rbitration [P]rovision in Ms. Graham’s presence on her behalf, without objection from Ms. Graham, and after a full explanation of the [Residency] Agreement . . . and its arbitration provisions;” and that “[b]ased upon the Facility’s admission policies and procedures, and [her] own strict routine and practice as Executive Director, [she] would not have allowed Ms. Wilson to sign the admission documents on behalf of Mr. Graham without sufficient assurance from the resident and her family that Ms. Wilson had authority to sign her mother’s behalf.” (R. pp. 170–172 ¶¶ 2, 5, 11–12.)

It is uncontroverted that Ms. Graham was competent at the time of her admission to the Facility. (*See* R. p. 5; *see also* R. p. 170 ¶ 4.) Contrary to the circuit court’s assertion that Appellants produced no evidence of Ms. Wilson’s actual or apparent authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham, the only evidence in the record that actually speaks to the circumstances of the admissions process for Ms. Graham, which is Ms. Cunningham’s uncontroverted affidavit, is to the effect that, after a full explanation of the Residency Agreement, including the Arbitration Provision, Ms. Graham allowed Ms. Wilson to sign for her and gave Ms. Cunningham assurance that Ms. Wilson had her authority to do so. That is, the only evidence in the record is to the effect that Ms. Wilson was actually or apparently duly authorized to bind Ms. Graham to the Arbitration Provision, or at least that Ms. Graham, and therefore Plaintiff standing in her shoes as her guardian,¹⁶ is estopped to deny the same. Accordingly, the circuit court erred in not finding

¹⁶ According to Plaintiff, Ms. Graham passed away on July 30, 2024, and a person other than Ms. Wilson was appointed personal representative of her estate. (R. p. 187.) As reflected in the captions of the appealed orders, the Motion to Compel Arbitration (and subsequent motion to reconsider the denial thereof) proceeded with the plaintiff in this case being Ms. Wilson as Ms. Graham’s guardian. (R. pp. 3–19.) Moreover, to the best of Appellants’ knowledge, the personal representative of Ms. Graham’s estate has not as yet been ordered substituted in place of Ms. Wilson as the plaintiff in this action. In any event, however, Appellants’ arguments in support of

that Ms. Wilson had actual or apparent authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham, or that Plaintiff was estopped to deny Ms. Wilson's authority to act on behalf of Ms. Graham

D. The circuit court erred in rejecting Appellants' equitable estoppel argument. More specifically, the circuit court should have found that, because the Arbitration Provision was part of the Residency Agreement and Ms. Graham effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Residency Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Residency Agreement and the Arbitration Provision therein.

The core question here is this: Is the Arbitration Provision (which is contained in the Residency Agreement Ms. Wilson signed for Ms. Graham) enforceable against Ms. Graham, and therefore Plaintiff, who stands in Ms. Graham's shoes in pursuing this action, even though the Residency Agreement was not signed by Ms. Graham herself? The answer is yes. The Residency Agreement, and in turn the Arbitration Provision, is enforceable against Plaintiff—or, more precisely, Plaintiff is estopped to deny that the Residency Agreement, and in turn the Arbitration Provision, is enforceable against Plaintiff.

To be clear, this equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument. It does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or apparent or otherwise) on the part of Ms. Wilson or otherwise on the existence of any valid agreement per se. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including . . . estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining that “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the

the Motion to Compel Arbitration (and in challenge to the circuit court's denial thereof in this appeal) apply with equal force whether the plaintiff in this action is Ms. Wilson as Ms. Graham's guardian or the personal representative of Ms. Graham's estate.

admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*” (emphasis added).

Conceptually, this argument is *not* an argument *for the enforceability* of the Residency Agreement/Arbitration Provision *but rather* an argument *for Ms. Graham, and therefore Plaintiff standing in her shoes, to be estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Residency Agreement/Arbitration Provision. In short, the idea is that the Arbitration Provision is part of the Residency Agreement and, having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Residency Agreement, Ms. Graham, and therefore Plaintiff, is now estopped to deny the enforceability of not only the Residency Agreement but also the Arbitration Provision within it.

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