THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001017

RECEIVED

Nov 26 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Sallie Wilson as Guardian
for Gladys Sims

.....

Respondent

v.

Medical University Hospital
Authority d/b/a MUSC Health
Columbia Medical Center
Northeast, Columbia AL
Operations, LLC d/b/a
Harmony Collection at
Columbia (AL/MC), and
Karen Bowman,

.....

Defendants.

Of whom Columbia AL Operations,
LLC d/b/a Harmony Collection at
Columbia (AL/MC) and Karen
Bowman are

.....

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

D. Nathan Hughey
A. Stuart Hudson
Bradley H. Banyas

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

Records the Facility submitted to the circuit court show Ms. Graham's decreased mental faculties at the time of her admission. The "Resident Identification and Emergency Information Sheet" completed for Ms. Graham the same week she was admitted to the Facility noted her incoming diagnosis of "senile degeneration of brain." (Defs. Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Compel Arb. Exh. 3 at 1). Ms. Graham's "Physician/Healthcare Provider History & Physical" form for this time period included a number of concerning indicators on her competency. Her medical problem list included "dementia" later specified as "Alzheimer's or dementia related diagnosis." (Defs. Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Compel Arb. Exh. 6). What that meant in practice is that Ms. Graham's decision making abilities had substantially eroded. She had a "current history of occasional hallucinations/delusions," "difficulty remembering and using information," and "c[ould] not follow written instructions." Id. On a day to day basis, Ms. Graham had "occasional disorientation to person, place, time or situation even in familiar surroundings" which caused her to exhibit "frequent poor judgment" and make "unsafe or inappropriate decisions." Id.

Ms. Graham was not just moving into the Facility to live out her golden years, she had medical conditions that required "memory care." Id. This same document asked and answered a crucial question about Ms. Graham's condition: "Do you have difficulty concentrating, remembering or making decisions?" "Yes." Id. As this Court has previously ruled, a nursing home resident with dementia lacks the capacity to intentionally or unintentionally represent a family member as having authority to enter contracts on her behalf. Thompson, 416 S.C. at 55, 784 S.E.2d at (noting resident had dementia prior to admission and "her incapacity prevented her from consciously or impliedly representing another to be her agent"). Thus, the Facility is simply incorrect to conclude there is an "uncontroverted" record of Ms. Graham's competency, and a

resident with dementia cannot, as a matter of law, provide the kind of representations required to form an agency relationship.⁴

Plus, even if Ms. Graham did not suffer from dementia, Hodge rejected the notion that apparent authority may be inferred from the fact that a nursing home resident was competent at the time of admission. 422 S.C. at 573-74, 813 S.E.2d at 308 (rejecting apparent authority argument where “the Facility knew [the resident] was competent at the time of admission”). Claiming Ms. Graham was competent is the Facility’s way of arguing Ms. Graham conveyed apparent authority for the Residency Agreement’s arbitration provision simply because she allowed Daughter to procure her admission. (Appellants’ Br. at 7-9). That precise argument was rejected in Hodge. Id. (affirming circuit court’s rejection of argument claiming family member was authorized to sign arbitration contract because resident “allow[ed] him to procure her admission”).

Moreover, the Facility errs in suggesting apparent authority should be presumed from Ms. Graham’s presence when the Arbitration Agreement was presented. Agency must be “established by evidence.” R&G Constr. Co., 343 S.C. at 432, 540 S.E.2d at 117). As this Court ruled in Hodge, a nursing home asserting an agency argument bears the burden of showing the agency relationship exists and that showing must be “clearly established by the facts.” 422 S.C. at 565, 813 S.E.2d at 304 (quoting McCall v. Finley, 294 S.C. 1, 6, 362 S.E.2d 26, 29 (Ct. App. 1987)). It is not enough to simply point to a family member’s signature on the contract or to ask a court to infer agency from a close familial relationship. Hodge, 422 S.C. at 565, 813 S.E.2d at 304 (citing Golinger v.

⁴ Noting Ms. Graham’s medical conditions is not to suggest Daughter’s signature on the Residency Agreement could be valid under the Adult Health Care Consent Act (“the Act”). The Facility acknowledges it is not seeking to rely on the Act in this appeal. (Appellants’ Br. at 11). Even if the Facility was pursuing that argument, it has not provided the certifications of two physicians required to invoke the Act’s provisions. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20(8).

AMS Props., Inc., 123 Cal. App. 4th 374 (2004) (finding no proof of agency without some evidence beyond a daughter merely signing contract on her mother’s behalf); Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Prioleau, 359 S.C. 238, 242, 597 S.E.2d 165, 168 (Ct. App. 2004) (no presumption of agency arises from marital relationship). The Facility does not offer any substantive evidence to support the conclusion that Ms. Graham made express or implied representations that Daughter was her agent when she signed the Residency Agreement.⁵

The Facility relies heavily on R & G Construction (Appellants Br. at 7-8) but that case included evidence to support a finding of apparent authority that is not present here. There, the designated executive director of a regional transportation company entered a contract with a construction contractor for work on premises operated by the transportation company. 343 S.C. at 434, 540 S.E.2d at 118-19. The circuit court found there was some evidence the executive director had apparent authority to enter into contracts on the transportation company’s behalf. Id. Unlike the Facility’s arguments, the R & G Construction court found that the transportation company (i.e. the purported principal) “represented to others that [purported agent] had the authority to enter into the contract.” Id. at 435, 540 S.E.2d at 119. The transportation company conceded that it expressly

⁵ The Facility suggests that to require it to determine the existence and scope of Daughter’s authority is an arbitration-specific rule barred by the FAA’s equal treatment rule. (Appellants’ Br. at 5) (citing AT&T Mobility, Inc. v. Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011)). However, under generally applicable South Carolina law governing agency relationships, “[i]t is the duty of one dealing with an agent to use due care to ascertain the scope of the agent’s authority.” Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc., 323 S.C. 240, 244, 473 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 1996). Moreover, the generally applicable contract defense of equitable estoppel—which the Facility asks the Court to apply here—requires proof that the party asserting estoppel lacks knowledge and the means for learning the truth about the purported agent and her relationship to the principal she supposedly represents. Strickland v. Strickland, 375 S.C. 76, 84, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007). Thus, even for a contract unrelated to arbitration, the Facility would have to show due care in dealing with Daughter to prevail on an agency or equitable estoppel theory.

named the purported agent as the company's executive director and the transportation company's employee confirmed the executive director's position to the third party. Id.

The Facility also cite language from R & G Construction indicating apparent authority may be conferred "where the principal passively permits the agent to appear" to have authority. 343 S.C. at 434, 540 S.E.2d at 118. This language is taken from Genovese v. Bergeron, 327 S.C. 567, 490 S.E.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1997), which is also distinguishable from the present case. In Genovese, a tenant who failed to pay her rent argued that a property manager, acting with authority granted by the landlord, agreed to permit the tenant to terminate her lease without penalty. Id. at 571, 490 S.E.2d at 610. This Court found evidence of apparent authority since the parties agreed that the property manager was the landlord's agent. Id.

In conclusion, the Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling that the Facility failed to demonstrate Daughter had actual or apparent authority to act as Ms. Graham's agent when the Residency Agreement was presented for Daughter's signature. The circuit court correctly concluded the record evidence and pertinent precedent did not support the conclusion that Ms. Graham consciously or impliedly represented Daughter had authority to act on her behalf.

2. The Facility does not meet or even attempt to apply the elements for any form of equitable estoppel cited in support of the purported arbitration contract.

As discussed above, Ms. Graham did not sign the Residency Agreement or authorize anyone to sign for her. Yet, the Facility argues South Carolina Supreme Court precedent suggests Ms. Graham's estate is equitably estopped from opposing arbitration. Appellants' Br. at 10-15 (citing Wilson v. Willis, 426 S.C. 326, 827 S.E.2d 167 (2019)). However, the Facility does not even cite or attempt to apply the elements of equitable estoppel imposed by South Carolina law.⁶

⁶ As Wilson recognized, whether a non-signatory may be bound to an arbitration contract is a state law issue. 426 S.C. at 348, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (citing Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle, 556 U.S.

Plus, Wilson actually refused to compel arbitration against a non-signatory, holding there is a presumption *against* forcing someone to arbitrate based on a contract she did not sign. 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 173. Wilson even went on record to say equitable estoppel is rarely appropriate to force arbitration. Id. at 345, 827 S.E.2d at 177 (finding equitable estoppel “should be used sparingly”). Finally, the Facility cannot meet the “direct benefits” test considered in Wilson because Respondent’s claims in no sense rely on the Arbitration Agreement’s terms.

The “direct benefits estoppel” discussed in Wilson could only apply if Respondent has “consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit” her. 426 S.C. at 340, 827 S.E.2d at 175 (quoting Pearson, 400 S.C. at 290, 733 S.E.2d at 601). What is most noticeable about the Facility’s argument on this point is that it overlooks entirely the one South Carolina appellate opinion considering direct benefits estoppel in this factual context. Just a few years ago, this Court considered and rejected direct benefits estoppel as a means to bind a nursing home resident’s estate to the arbitration provision in a residency agreement the resident did not sign. Weaver v. Brookdale Sr. Living, Inc., 431 S.C. 223, 230, 847 S.E.2d 223 (Ct. App. 2020).

624, 630-31 n. 5 (2009)). Under South Carolina law, equitable estoppel requires proof that the party to be estopped (1) acted in a way amounting to a false representation; (2) intended that such conduct be acted on by the other party; and (3) had actual or constructive knowledge of the real facts. Strickland, 375 S.C. at 84, 650 S.E.2d at 470. The party asserting estoppel must (1) lack knowledge and the means of knowledge of the truth of the facts in question; (2) rely on the conduct of the party estopped; and (3) make a prejudicial change in position in reliance on conduct of the party to be estopped. Id. Wilson did not dismiss or eliminate this test for equitable estoppel but only found its application was an issue that had not been preserved for appellate review. The Facility argues Wilson concluded this test only applies to “non-arbitration cases.” Appellants’ Br. at 11 (citing Wilson, 426 S.C. at 340 n. 9, 827 S.E.2d at 175 n. 9). However, that could not have been Wilson’s meaning because applying different rules to arbitration and non-arbitration contracts would violate the U.S. Supreme Court’s equal-treatment principle. See Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood Conklin Mfg. Co., 388 U.S. 395, 404 n. 12 (1967) (finding intent of Federal Arbitration Act was “to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so”).

Weaver held the party asserting direct benefits estoppel must make three distinction showings. 431 S.C. at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272. The Facility would have to show (1) Ms. Graham's claim arose from a contractual relationship; (2) Ms. Graham "exploited" other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits; and (3) her claim "relies solely on the contract terms to impose liability." Id. (citing Wilson, 426 S.C. at 340-44, 827 S.E.2d at 175-77). The Facility makes no attempt to satisfy any of these elements. Instead, the Facility argues Ms. Graham's alleged direct benefit was admission itself and the nursing home services she received while a Facility resident. Appellants' Br. at 14.

This Court has left no doubt that direct benefits estoppel does not apply in these circumstances. Weaver, 431 S.C. at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272 (finding nursing home's direct benefit estoppel argument "easily scotched"). Applying the three elements listed above, Weaver found a nursing home's resident does not gain a "direct benefit" for estoppel purposes simply by accepting the services obtained upon admission to the home. 431 S.C. at 230-31, 847 S.E.2d at 272-73. Moreover, claims like the personal injury claims asserted here do not "arise from" the Residency Agreement. There is no breach of contract claim, and the Residency Agreement is not referenced at all in the Complaint. Id. at 231, 847 S.E.2d at 272 (finding "arising from" requirement is not met just because claim would not exist "but for" a contract's existence). Instead, the estate grounds its claims in duties arising from common law with no reference to any contract. Id. at 232, 847 S.E.2d at 273 (finding nursing home resident's claims "rely on general tort duties . . . not any provision of the residency agreement").

Under those circumstances, estoppel cannot apply because the claims do not "arise from" a contract and certainly do not "rely solely" on a contract's terms. Id. at 232-33, 847 S.E.2d at 273 (citing Hodge as further support to show direct benefit estoppel does not apply to nursing home

resident's common law tort claim). Finally, Weaver found that it strained credulity to assert that a deceased resident's daughter had "exploited" the nursing home's residency agreement simply by seeking compensation for poor care that lead her mother to be killed and dismembered by an alligator. 431 S.C. at 232, 847 S.E.2d at 273 (finding deceased nursing home resident and family could not be said to have "exploited" or "benefitted from" residency agreement "any more than a pedestrian run over by a truck has benefited from the contract for the purchase of the truck").

The Facility points to nothing to distinguish Weaver or to address its holding which forecloses the estoppel argument. Thus, Weaver is strong precedent against applying estoppel in this context. Moreover, this Court rejected a nursing home's attempt to use direct benefits estoppel to compel a non-signatory nursing home resident to arbitrate even before Weaver. Thompson, 416 S.C. at 58-59, 784 S.E.2d at 687-88; see also Hodge, 422 S.C. at 556-57, 813 S.E.2d at 299-300 (applying Thompson). Thompson rejected any effort to argue Ms. Graham gained a "direct benefit" from the Residency Agreement's arbitration provision. Id. at 60, 784 S.E.2d at 688 ("any possible benefit emanating from the [Arbitration Agreement] alone is offset by the [Arbitration Agreement's] requirement that Mother waive her right of access to the courts . . ."); see also Weaver, 431 S.C. at 233, 847 S.E.2d at 273 (citing Hodge, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302) (concluding it would be "difficult to find" nursing home resident derived any benefit from her admission given that the deficient care provided there caused her death).

In sum, the circuit court correctly rejected the Facility's equitable estoppel argument because the Facility has not cited or applied the proper elements, cannot show Respondent obtained

any “direct benefit,” and does not offer any explanation for how Ms. Graham or Daughter meet any of the elements recognized in Weaver.⁷

3. Since there is no valid arbitration contract, there are no grounds for staying litigation.

Finally, the Facility argues the circuit court erred in failing to enter a stay of litigation pending the outcome of arbitration proceedings. (Appellants’ Br. at 16-17). The FAA’s stay provision applies only if the legal issue in question is “referable to arbitration” under a valid arbitration contract. 9 U.S.C. § 3. Since there is no valid arbitration contract here, the circuit court correctly denied the Facility’s motion for a stay. Solesbee, 438 S.C. at 651, 885 S.E.2d at 150 (holding that motion to stay is mooted when court finds there is no valid arbitration contract).

CONCLUSION

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